
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of  

the Planning Committee 

on Thursday, 27 June 2019, at 10.00 a.m. 

in the District Council Chamber, South Lakeland House, 
Kendal 

 

Committee Membership 
 

Councillors 
 

Robin Ashcroft 

Rupert Audland 

Helen Chaffey 

Brian Cooper 

Michael Cornah 

Judy Filmore 

Gill Gardner 

John Holmes 

Vicky Hughes 

Anne Hutton 

Janette Jenkinson 

Dave Khan 

Malcolm Lamb 

Kevin Lancaster 

Susanne Long 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 

Eric Morrell (Vice-Chairman) 

David Webster 

 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
Tuesday, 18 June 2019 
 
David Sykes, Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources (Interim Monitoring Officer) 
 
For all enquiries, please contact:-  

Committee Administrator: Committee Services 

 

Telephone: 01539 733333 

e-mail: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  MINUTES  5 - 16 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the 
meeting of the Committee held on 25 April 2019 (copy attached). 

 

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 
 
Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 
 
If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

4  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the items, if any, in Part II of the Agenda should be 
considered in the presence of the press and public. 

 

5  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 
(1) Planning Applications 
 
 Planning applications for which requests to speak have been made. 
 
(2) Agenda Items 
 
 Agenda items for which requests to speak have been made. 

 

6  PLANNING APPLICATION SL/2019/0146 - LAND AT BOOTHS, OUBAS 
HILL, ULVERSTON  

17 - 36 

 To determine an application of a freestanding single storey restaurant with 
associated drive-thru, car parking, landscaping and associated works at Oubas 
Hill, Ulverston.  

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


7  A REPORT ON MONTHLY ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY  37 - 48 

 To consider an update on planning enforcement activity between 1 March and 
30 April 2019. 

 

8  PLANNING PERFORMANCE AND APPEALS UPDATE  49 - 58 

 To consider an update on performance measures and recent appeals as at 18 
June 2019. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number) 
 

There are no items in the part of the Agenda. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



163 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the proceedings at a meeting of the Planning Committee held in the 
Boardroom, Lake District National Park Authority, Murley Moss, Oxenholme Road, 
Kendal, LA9 7RL, on Thursday, 25 April 2019, at 10.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Pete McSweeney (Chairman) 
Eric Morrell (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Robin Ashcroft 
Rupert Audland 
Andrew Butcher 
Helen Chaffey 

Michael Cornah 
 

Brian Cooper 
Gill Gardner 
John Holmes 
Vicky Hughes 
Anne Hutton 

 

Janette Jenkinson 
Dave Khan 

Kevin Lancaster 
David Webster 
David Williams 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Vivienne Rees. 
 

Officers 
 

Una Bell Case Management Team Leader 

Belinda Fettis Planning Officer 

Mike Hoar Planning Officer 

Anthea Lowe Solicitor to the Council 

Mark Lynch Interim Development Management Team Leader 

 

P/112 MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the minutes 
of the meeting held on 4 March 2019. 
 

P/113 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that the following declarations of interest were made:- 
 
(1) Councillor Janette Jenkinson with regard to Minute No. P116 (Planning Application 
No. SL/2018/0845); and 
 
(2) Councillor Brian Cooper with regard to Minute No. P117 (Planning Application No. 
SL/2018/0902) and Minute No. P122 (Legal Advice Regarding Unauthorised Operational 
Development at Monton, Cart Lane, Grange-over-Sands). 
 

P/114 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS  
 
RESOLVED – That the item in Part II of the Agenda be dealt with following the exclusion 
of the press and public. 
 

Page 5

Item No.2



164 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

P/115 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that applications to speak under the Council’s public 
participation scheme have been received in respect of Minute No. P/116 (Planning 
Application No. SL/2018/0845).  
 

P/116 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2018/0845 - PENNINGTON - LAND AT CARLEY 
LANE, ULVERSTON  
 
Erection of one dwelling on land adjacent to Low Carley Lodge, Carley Lane, Ulverston 
(Oliver Prosser). 
 
Note – Councillor Janette Jenkinson declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item 
by virtue of the fact the applicant’s father was known to her. She remained in the 
meeting during discussion and voting on the item. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2018/0845 which sought 
permission for the erection of one dwelling. He referred to the meeting of 7 February 2019 
when the Committee resolved to defer the outline planning application for two dwellings 
on the site, to enable the applicant to submit a revised application for a single dwelling 
house. The Planning Officer referred to the previous site visit and displayed plans and 
photographs which detailed the revised proposal. Members’ attention was drawn to the 
late representations which had been circulated prior to the meeting. 
 
Kate Bellwood, the applicant’s agent, addressed the Committee. She informed Members 
that she addressed them today to reiterate the key points of the revised application. She 
explained that the applicant and his family were local and lived in Ulverston and that their 
current house was too small for their growing family and the applicant wished to build a 
family home close to his parents, whose health was in decline. Ms Bellwood went on to 
outline the location of the proposed dormer bungalow on the revised plan and explained 
that the location of the dwelling was indicative and the applicant would be happy to have it 
orientated as the Planning Officer suggested. Ms Bellwood reminded Members that the 
application had been under consideration since 2018 and following the deferral in 
February, both she and the applicant had understood that the revised application had 
been delegated to Officers for approval and they had both been disappointed that they 
had to wait two and a half months for the revised application to come back to Committee. 
Ms Bellwood concluded her address by stating that the need for self-build remained and 
that the defensible boundaries of the application would stop further development in three 
directions and would not set an undesirable precedent for further development. She asked 
Members to support a local family who wanted to build a home in their local community 
close to family and friends.  
 
In further presenting his report, the Planning Officer advised Members that at the meeting 
of Full Council on 28 March 2019 the new Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document had been formally adopted. He went on to explain that the 
previous infill and rounding off policies had been superseded by policy DM13 and by way 
of clarification he stated that the site had never represented infilling or rounding off. The 
Interim Development Management Team Leader advised Members that the new policy set 
out five criteria and that Self Build Policy DM12 no longer referred to infill and he cross-
referenced Policy DM13 and summarised the five criteria of the policy as outlined in the 
Planning Report.  
 
In response to a query raised by a Member, the Interim Development Management Team 
Leader clarified that applications within and on the edge of small villages and hamlets 

Page 6



165 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

should be in accordance with Policy DM13. He and the Solicitor to the Council informed 
Members that since the original application and the adoption of the Development Plan 
Document, with its superseding policies and the fact that the minutes of the meeting of 7 
February 2019 (Minute P/89 refers) were not clear as to whether the principle of the 
original application had been agreed, the Members were open to reach a decision based 
on the application before them.  
 
Members gave consideration to the principle of the development, the Officer 
recommendation of the original application and the new adopted Policy DM13, its 
associated criteria and whether the dwelling was connected would integrate with and form 
part of the existing settlement. 
 
A motion to refuse the application based on the fact the proposed development was not 
part of the hamlet and did not comply with Policy DM13 was put to the vote and lost. 
 
RESOLVED – That the application be granted subject to the following conditions:- 
 
Condition (1)  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 

than whichever is the later of the following dates: 
 

a) FIVE YEARS from the date of this permission; or 
b) the expiration of TWO YEARS from the final approval of the 
reserved matters, or, in the case of approval on different dates, the final 
approval of the last such matters to be approved. 
 
Application for the approval of the reserved matters must be made not later 
than THREE years from the date of this permission.  
 

Reason:  To comply with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country  
  Planning Act 1990. 
 
Condition (2) Details of the:- access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale  

(hereinafter called “the reserved matters”) shall be submitted to and  
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any  

 development begins and the development shall be carried out as  
approved. 

 
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory standard of development on site. 
 
Condition (3) The development hereby permitted shall follow the general layout as  

shown on the approved indicative plan:  
1:500 scale – Site Plan Indicative Only – Dwg No MVC312-01 Rev B – 
Received 21/03/2019 
 

Reason:   For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Condition (4) Any details pursuant to Condition 2 above shall show a development  

featuring the following elements: 
• walls finished predominantly in a white/off-white wet-dash 

render/smooth coursed cement render and or natural stone; 
• a roof covering of natural slate, or dark grey coloured tile 
• single storey or 1 ½ storeys in height;  
• windows with a strong vertical emphasis; 
• a roof symmetrically pitched of not less than 35 and not greater than 

45°; and 

Page 7



166 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

• predominantly rectangular in shape with traditional gable ends. 
 
Reason:   To ensure a satisfactory standard of development on site. 
 
Condition (5) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft  

landscape works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the  
Local Planning Authority.  These details shall include:-  
• proposed finished levels or contours;  
• means of enclosure;  
• car parking layouts;  
• hard surfacing materials;  
Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and 
proposed numbers / densities; and an implementation programme. 
 
The agreed scheme shall be carried out as approved to the agreed 
timetable.  Any trees / shrubs which are removed, die, become severely 
damaged or diseased within five years of their planting shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with trees / shrubs of similar size and species to 
those originally required to be planted unless the Local Planning Authority 
gives written consent to any variation. 
 

Reason:   These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and 
secure high quality landscaping. 

 
Condition (6) No development shall begin unless and until visibility splays providing a 

clear visibility of 60 metres measured 2.4 metres down the centre of the 
access road and the nearside channel line of the major road have been 
constructed at the junction of the access road with the county highway.  
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country  
Planning (General Permitted Development)(England) Order 2015 (or any 
Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) relating to permitted  
development, no structure, vehicle or object of any kind shall be erected, 
parked or placed  and no trees, bushes or other plants shall be planted or 
be permitted  to grow within the visibility which obstructs the visibility 
splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed before general  
development of the  site commences so that construction traffic 
safeguarded.  
 

Reason: These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 
development in the interests of highway safety and in accordance with 
Policy CS10.2 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 
Condition (7) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the means of 

vehicular access has been constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS10.2 of the 

South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
Condition (8) The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the access 

drive is surfaced in bituminous or cement bound materials, or otherwise 
bound and shall be constructed and completed before the development is 

Page 8



167 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

brought into use. This surfacing shall extend  for a distance of at least 5 
metres back from the carriageway edge of the adjacent highway. 

 
Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS10.2 of the 

South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
Condition (9) a) Prior to development being commenced details of all measures to 

prevent surface water discharge onto or off the highway shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
b) The approved surface water discharge works shall be implemented 
prior to the development being occupied and shall be maintained 
thereafter. 
 

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS10.2 of the 
South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 
Condition (10) No development shall begin until full details of the arrangements to be  

made for the provision of a vehicle turning space within the site, which  
allows vehicles visiting the site to enter and leave the highway in a  
forward gear, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local  
Planning Authority. 
 
The approved details of parking, turning, loading and unloading of    

   vehicles shall be implemented prior to the first use of the development  
hereby approved and retained as such thereafter. 
 

Reason:  These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 
development in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy 
CS10.2 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 
Condition (11) a) The development shall not be occupied until details of surface water 

management works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.   
b) The development shall not be occupied until the approved surface 
water management works have been provided on the site to serve the 
development.  
c) Before any dwelling is occupied / the building is first brought into 
use, a validation report (that demonstrates that the drainage scheme has 
been carried out in accordance with the approved plan) must be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority. 
d) The approved works shall be retained as such thereafter. 

 
Reason:  To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of surface  

water and sewage disposal in accordance with Policy DM6 of the South 
Lakeland Local Plan Development Management Policies. 

 

P/117 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2018/0902 - BURTON-IN-KENDAL - LAND WITHIN 
CLAWTHORPE BUSINESS PARK, CLAWTHORPE  
 
Construction of a new worship/meeting hall, Clawthorpe Hall Business Centre, Burton in 
Kendal (Mr Whiley). 
 

Page 9



168 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

Note Councillor Brian Cooper declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item by 
virtue of the fact the landlord was known to him. He remained in the meeting during 
discussion and voting on the item. 
 
The Planning Officer presented Planning Application No. SL/2018/0902 which sought 
permission for the erection of a new single storey building at Clawthorpe Hall Business 
Centre which would be Use Class D1. She informed Members that the site was within an 
existing employment site which was restricted to Use Class B1a under the South 
Lakeland Land Allocation Development Document Policy LA1.5, and went on to highlight 
that the proposed use within the building would be a church hall/meeting room and 
included new parking and improvements.  
 
The Planning Officer displayed plans and photographs which outlined the proposed 
development and Members’ attention was drawn to the late representations which had 
been circulated prior to the meeting. She stated that the key issues for consideration were 
the principle of the application and whether the loss of the employment area would be 
acceptable and if it was justified within the scope of the Local Plan Policies and whether 
the proposed Use Class was acceptable within the site. 
 
The Planning Officer went on to inform Members that the owner of the site had struggled, 
since 2014, to rent out the vacant units on the site under Use Class B1a and it had been 
suggested that the lack of take up was due to the site being suitable for employment or 
that there was no need for the size of units.  
 
In concluding her presentation the Planning Officer drew Members attention to the 
proposed hard and soft landscaping and improvements to the entrance to the business 
park with a clear separation of incoming and outgoing traffic and works that would 
reconfigure and improve the junction layout, all of which would create a better image of 
the business centre. 
 
Members agreed that the site visit had been informative and agreed that the proposed 
application would tidy up and finish the area. 
 
RESOLVED – That the application be granted subject to the following conditions:- 
 
Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before the 

expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 
 
Reason To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the following approved plans: 
Location plan L3551 010 Rev A 
Proposed floor plans and elevations L3551 022 Rev A 
Proposed junction amendment & swept path analysis K32455/A1/01 
Proposed site plan L3551 021 Rev B 
 

Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Condition (3) The development shall not proceed except in accordance with the 

mitigation strategy described in the ECOLOGY APPRAISAL prepared by 
ENVIROTECH and deposited with the Local Planning Authority on 5th 
November 201 

Page 10



169 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

 
Reason For the avoidance of doubt and to prevent harm to protected species in 

accordance with Policy CS8.4 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
Condition (4) a) No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until 

a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.    The Statement shall provide for: 
i. the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
ii. loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
iii.storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
iv. the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
v. wheel washing facilities; 
vi. measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;  
vii. a scheme for recycling / disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works; and 
viii. measures to control noise and vibration. 
 
b) The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction period. 
 

Reason These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 
development to safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with National Planning Policy Framework para 17 Core 
Principles and paras 121- 12. 

 
Condition (5) a) Development shall not begin until details of the junction between the 

proposed service road and the highway have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
b) The building shall not be occupied / first brought into use until that 
junction has been constructed in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Reason In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS10.2 of the 
South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 
Condition (6) Prior to first occupation of the development, the approved parking layout 

[and turning space] shall be constructed, marked out and made available 
for use and shall be retained as such thereafter.  The parking spaces shall 
be used solely for the benefit of the occupants and visitors of the 
development hereby approved and for no other purpose. 

 
Reason In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy DM9 of the 

South Lakeland Local Plan Development Management Policies. 
 
Condition (7) a) The development shall not be occupied until details of surface water 

management and the disposal of sewage have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
b) The development shall not be occupied until details of surface water 
management works have been provided on the site to serve the 
development. 
c) Before the building is first brought into use, a validation report (that 
demonstrates that the drainage scheme has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved plan) must be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Page 11



170 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

d) The approved works shall be retained as such thereafter. 
 

Reasons To ensure adequate provision is made for the management of [surface 
water / and sewage] disposal in accordance with the South Lakeland Local 
Plan Core Strategy Policy CS8.8 and Development Management Policy 
DM6. 

 
Condition (8) No retained tree shall be cut down, uprooted, destroyed, pruned, cut or 

damaged in any manner within five years from the date of commencement 
of the development hereby approved, other than in accordance with the 
approved plans and particulars, without the prior written approval of the 
Local Planning Authority.  If any retained tree is cut down, uprooted, 
destroyed or dies another tree shall be planted [in a location to be agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority] within the next available 
planting season and that tree shall be of a size and species that is first 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason To ensure the protection and retention of important landscape features in 

accordance with Policy CS8.1 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
Condition (9) The development shall not proceed except in accordance with the strategy 

described in the ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT report 
prepared by YEW TREE AND GARDENS and deposited with the Local 
Planning Authority on 5th November 2018. 

 
Reason For the avoidance of doubt and to prevent harm to protected trees in 

accordance with Policies CS8.1 and CS8.2 of the South Lakeland Core 
Strategy and Policy DM4 of the South Lakeland Local Plan Development 
Management Policies. 

 
Condition (10) a) Prior to development of the car park a full specification of all proposed 

tree planting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The specification shall include the quantity, size, 
species, and positions of all trees to be planted, how they will be protected 
and the proposed time of planting.  
b)  All trees shall be planted in accordance with the agreed specification 
and times and in accordance with British Standards BS4043 - 
Transplanting Root-balled Trees and BS4428 - Code of Practice for 
General Landscape Operations. 
c)  The planting shall be permanently retained thereafter. 
 

Reason These details are required to be approved before the commencement of 
development to safeguard and enhance the character of the area and 
secure high quality landscaping in accordance with Core Strategy Policy 
CS8.2 Policy and Policy DM4 of the South Lakeland Local Plan 
Development Management Policies. 

 
Condition (11) No fires shall be lit within 10 metres of the nearest point of the canopy of 

any retained tree, no equipment, machinery or structure shall be attached 
to or supported by a retained tree, no trenches shall be excavated or 
services installed in the root protection area and no mixing of cement or 
use of other contaminating materials or substances shall take place within, 
or close enough to, a root protection area that seepage or displacement 
could cause them to enter a root protection area. 

 

Page 12



171 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

Reason To ensure the protection and retention of important landscape features in 
accordance with Policy CS8.1 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy. 

 
Condition (12) a) A scheme showing the proposed lighting plan for external building lights 

and car park lighting for the development shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior to operation.  This shall 
show the location, number and type of units proposed, their orientation and 
brightness in lux and proposed hours of operation.  It shall also predict the 
light level in lux to be experienced at surrounding properties and, adjacent 
A6070 and its junctions with the adjoining road network. 
b)The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
lighting scheme and retained as such thereafter. 
 

Reason These details are required to be approved before put into operation to 
minimise the visual impact of light on nearby residential properties and the 
highway in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework Core 
Principles and Local Plan Development Management Policies DM1, DM2. 

 
Condition (13) In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 

approved development that was not previously identified it must be 
reported in writing within 14 days to the Local Planning Authority and once 
the Local Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by 
the unexpected contamination development must be halted on that part of 
the site.  
An assessment must be undertaken and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation, must 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be 
implemented in accordance with the approved timetable.  Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
validation report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 

Reason To prevent harm to human health and the environment in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework para 17 Core Principles and paras 
121 - 122. 

 
Condition (14) The access gates hereby approved shall be hung to open inwards only, 

away from the highway, be recessed no less than 4.5m measured from the 
carriageway edge of the shared access to the business centre and shall 
incorporate 45 degree splays to each side. 

 
Reasons In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS10.2 of the 
South Lakeland Core Strategy. 
 
In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate balance of considerations, 
the Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application proposal, taking into account all material considerations. Material 
considerations include planning policies and any representations that may have been 
received preceding the determination to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is satisfied that its processes and 
practices are compatible with the Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European 
Court of Human Rights. 
 

Page 13



172 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

P/118 PLANNING APPLICATION NO. SL/2019/0148 - LUPTON - LAND OPPOSITE 
MEADOWSIDE, COW BROW  
 
This application was withdrawn prior to the commencement of the meeting. 
 

P/119 A REPORT ON MONTHLY ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY  
 
The Interim Development Management Team Leader introduced the Monthly Enforcement 
Report which outlined enforcement activity between 1 February and 28 February 2019.  
 
In response to a query regarding 11/11a New Market Street the Interim Development 
Management Team Leader undertook to provide an update. 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the contents of Appendix 1 to the report be noted; and 
 
(2) the actions of officers in closing cases as set out in Appendix 2 to the report be 
endorsed. 
 

P/120 PLANNING PERFORMANCE AND APPEALS UPDATE  
 
The Planning and Performance and Appeals Update was presented by the Interim 
Development Management Team Leader. He informed Members that there had been a 
significant improvement in planning performance since the last quarter in particular the 
speed of decision-making which was in excess of Government Targets. However, the 
quality of decisions relating to major applications, as assessed through the appeal 
process, was significantly lower than it should be. The Interim Development Management 
Team Leader outlined the consequences, should the trend continue, of the authority 
retaining its powers to determine  
 
RESOLVED – That the report and contents of Appendices 1 and 2 to the report be noted. 
 

P/122 LEGAL ADVICE REGARDING UNAUTHORISED OPERATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AT 
MONTON, CART LANE, GRANGE-OVER-SANDS 
 
- Paragraph 3, 4, 5 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information)  
- Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations 

or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the 
authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under the 
authority.  

- Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.  

 
Note – Councillor Brian Cooper declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item by 
virtue of the fact the applicant was known to him. Having regard to the perception 
of bias and/or predetermination, he left the meeting during discussion on the item. 
 
At this point in the proceedings Councillor Gill Gardner declared a non-pecuniary 
interest in this item by virtue of the fact that the applicant was known to her and he 
was also the Chair of her Parish Council and having regard to bias and/or 
predetermination, she left the meeting during discussion on the item. 
 

Page 14



173 
25.04.2019 Planning Committee 
 

 

Note – The Committee voted to adjourn for a break at 11.11 a.m. and reconvened at 
11.16 a.m. when the same Members, with the exception of Councillors Cooper and 
Gardner, were present. 
 
The Interim Development Management Team Leader presented an update report on the 
unauthorised operational development at Monton, Cart Lane, Grange-over-Sands. He 
summarised the background and historical context of the development and he displayed 
photographs which detailed the unauthorised development. He reminded Members that 
the enforcement notice had been complied with in full and the dormer had been removed 
and the roof tiles reinstated. He went on to inform Members that during a meeting held on 
6 February 2019, with the appellant and his advisors, a number of scenarios had been 
tabled by the appellant and consequently Counsel’s opinion had been sought. The Interim 
Development Management Team Leader drew Members’ attention to the conclusions as 
outlined in the report and Appendix 2 to the report which outlined Counsel’s opinion. 
 
RESOLVED – That  
 
(1) the report be noted; and 
 
(2) the proposals contained within paragraph 8.4 of the report be endorsed. 
 

P/123 RE-ADMISSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED – That the press and public be re-admitted to the meeting. 
 
The Chairman, Councillor Pete McSweeney, took the opportunity to thank Councillors 
Rees and Williams for their contribution to the Planning Committee.  
 
Councillor McSweeney also thanked Anthea Lowe, the Solicitor to the Council, who was 
leaving at the end of May, for her support of the Planning Committee and stated that she 
would be missed. 
 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 11.34 a.m. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



                    

         SL/2019/0146 

 

PARISH:   Ulverston 

 

PROPOSAL:   Erection of freestanding single storey restaurant with associated  

                                drive-thru, car parking and landscaping and associated works, 2  

                                customer order displays with associated canopies and play area  

 

 

APPLICANT:   McDonald's Restaurants Ltd 

 

 

Grid Ref:      E:  329550�      N: 491830 

 

 

 

Committee Date:  27 June 2019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17

Item No.6



Page 18



SUMMARY 

1. The application seeks approval of a scheme for the construction of a 
restaurant/takeaway with drive through element at Oubas Hill in Ulverston. 
The key issues which apply to this application are: Principle of development; 
Impact on town centre; Impact on amenity, Design, scale and layout; Highway 
safety and parking; Air quality and noise; Impact on ecology/natural 
environment; Impact on drainage and flood risk. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

2. The application is recommended for conditional approval. 

 

DESCRIPTION AND PROPOSAL 

Site description  

3. The site is a 0.28 hectare brownfield site currently used as a recycling facility 
in the car park of Booths supermarket at Oubas Hill in Ulverston. The 
supermarket building is to the west of the site and there are further retail units 
at the eastern side of the central car park. The site is level and the restaurant 
is to be located in the south eastern corner of the retail park. To the south of 
the site is a field beyond which is the Ulverston Canal, whilst to the east of the 
site is a B1 commercial site. The retail park is accessed via a roundabout on 
the A590, a trunk road connecting the M6 to Barrow and the Lake District 
peninsulas. The roundabout also provides access to a petrol filling station and 
car wash to the north along with adjoining residential properties and to Next 
Ness Lane which provides access to the hamlets of Next Ness and Plumpton. 

 
Proposal 

4. The proposal relates to the construction of a restaurant/takeaway with drive 
through facility, parking, childrens play area and associated works at Land at 
Booths supermarket in the town of Ulverston. The proposal building would be 
single storey with a gross floorspace of 413 square metres. The site will 
provide 30 parking spaces, 2 disabled parking spaces along with space for 2 
motorcycles and 8 bicycles. The building will be finished in a mix of khaki 
green, timber effect aluminium and natural stone with large areas of glazing to 
the frontage. 

5. In support of the proposal the applicant has submitted the following 
documents: 

Proposed plans 

Supporting Statement 

Tree Survey 

Arboricultural Method Statement 

Transport Assessment 

Flood Risk Assessment 

Page 19



Noise Report 

Waste Management and Recycling Statement 

Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

Odour Control Specifications 

Phase 1 and 2 Contamination Report 

Air Quality Impact Assessment 

Travel Plan 

Addendum Traffic Note 

Delivery and Service Management Plan 

Sequential Test and Impact Assessment 

 

HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

6. 5/87/1417 Foodstore, craft centres, café, car park and coach park. Approved 

7. 5/98/0176 Petrol filling station with car wash and jet wash. Approved 

8. 5/99/0784 Recycling area and bus & car park. Approved 

9. SL/2012/0100 Subdivision of former craft workshop to create to class A1 retail 
units and one class B1 business unit including alterations and erection of 
garden compound. Approved 

 

CONSULTATIONS 

Ulverston Town Council: 

10. Ulverston Town Council had no objections once both Cumbria CC Highways 
and Highways England were satisfied the proposal would have no adverse 
impact on the traffic network and highway safety. 

 
Cumbria County Council: 

Highways 

11. No objection following submission of further details: 

I have reviewed the additional documents:- 

Travel Plan 

Delivery and Service Plan 

Addendum Traffic Note 

With regards to the Travel Plan, the Highways Authority note that a high 
proportion of staff are likely to walk or catch a bus to the site. There appear to 
be suitable facilities and measures to both promote and support sustainable 
forms of travel to the site, including cycle parking, lockers, changing room and 
staff room. Due to the limited number of staff on site at any one time there will 

Page 20



be no need for the Highways Authority to monitor and carry out regular 
reviews of the travel plan.  

With regards to the delivery of proposals, it is apparent that McDonalds have 
considerable experience of managing deliveries to their sites and minimising 
the impact. This is done through minimising the number of deliveries and 
using technology to plan for them efficiently. The Highways Authority are 
therefore content with the measures in the plan and that the impact on the 
adopted highway from site deliveries will be insignificant. 

The Traffic Note is primarily concerned with the modelling of the Next Ness 
junction and the impact on the Trunk Road network. As stated previously, it is 
accepted that there will be no material impact on the County Road network 
from this proposal. The views of Highways England should be sought on this 
matter however. 

 
Lead Local Flood Authority 

12. No objection 

We note that the site is considered to be at ‘low risk’ of flooding from surface 
water but is in Flood Zone 2. However, since the development is considered to 
be a ‘less vulnerable class’, it is permitted in this situation as long as floor 
levels and other measures are taken to protect the building and its uses. The 
proposed FFL of 6.5m (150mm above the existing GL) is considered 
appropriate. The maintenance schedule is very basic and does not cover all 
SUDS elements. A more detailed schedule will be required in due course. The 
foul water proposals should be assessed by United Utilities. 

 
Highways England: 

13. No objection 

Following on from our previous response requesting further information from 
the developer, we have reviewed the further work sent to us and do not 
believe the development will have a significant impact on the operation of the 
Strategic Road Network in this area. 

 
United Utilities: 

14. No objection subject to conditions. 

Foul and surface water to be drained on separate systems; 

Development shall not commence until a sustainable surface water drainage 
scheme including a timetable for implementation has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the approved scheme 
shall be in accordance with the principles of the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment. 

 
South Lakeland District Council: 

Environmental Protection Officer 

15. No objection subject to conditions. 

Page 21



Construction to fully comply with the conclusions and recommendations 
detailed in the Phase One and Phase Two Assessments and a Validation 
Report to be provided on completion. 

Upon completion of the development the developer shall provide confirmation 
for written approval by the Local Planning Authority that the 
odour/ventilation/extraction system is as indicated in the Odour Control Report 
and fully compliant with recent guidance for commercial kitchens. 

Upon completion of the development the developer shall provide a validation 
report confirming the conclusions set out in the Noise Impact Assessment 
dated February 2019. Delivery times to be conditioned. 

Refuse and recycling shall be stored and managed in accordance with the 
Waste Management and Recycling Statement.  

A Construction Method Statement shall be submitted for approval by the LPA. 

A condition to control the hours of construction is required.  

 
Arboricultural Officer 

16. No objection 

The existing trees on site do not provide a constraint to development. There is 
an opportunity for some replacement planting along the southern boundary of 
the proposed site, and some heavy standard UK native broadleafed trees on 
this boundary would be a welcome addition to the site layout. A landscaping 
scheme should be submitted to the LPA for approval prior to commencement 
of development. 

 
Natural England: 

17. No objection 

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed 
development will not have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected 
sites or landscapes.  

 
Neighbours / Others: 

18. Cllr Ann Hall objects but made no request for referral to committee. 

“District Council is attempting to promote good health and wellbeing and 
sighting a takeaway of this type near to one of Ulverston’s deprived wards is 
not following their principle. Ulverston is a market town revered for its local 
shops and anything done to undermine these businesses is again against 
policy. Increasing amounts of rubbish on A590 is already a big problem plus 
night time noise to surrounding properties would be unwelcome and again 
affecting peoples wellbeing in their own homes. Town centre is the place for 
night time business.” 

Ulverston & District Civic Society expressed concern regarding the proposal 
on the grounds of the impact on the viability of the town centre, impact on 

Page 22



highways, increased litter, loss of the recycling centre and impact of the 
proposed signage.  

157 letters of objection were received along with 47 letters and a petition in 
support. 
 

Grounds for objection can be summarised as follows: 

That the proposed development was not needed. 

That the proposed restaurant was not in keeping with or would harm the 
character of Ulverston and result in a loss of uniqueness. 

The impact of the proposal on public health and obesity. 

Concerns regarding litter and vermin resulting from the development. 

The impact on local independent businesses in the town centre and impact on 
the local economy. 

Traffic congestion, inadequate parking and highway safety. 

Impact on the environment/climate change and on local wildlife. 

Antisocial behaviour and increased risk of crime. 

Adverse impact on tourism and would deter visitors. 

Loss of recycling centre. 

Impact on animal rights. 

Inappropriate design. 

Noise and odour pollution. 

Concerns that the applicant is not ‘fair trade’ or ethical. 

Impact on older residents. 
 

Supportive comments can be summarised as follows: 

The development will create jobs and bring Ulverston ‘up to date’. 

The development will bring investment and be good for the local economy. 

It will provide choice for consumers and more affordable options. 

It will bring more visitors to Ulverston. 

It is well located so that it does not impact on the character of the town centre.  

 

POLICY ISSUES 

Development Plan  

South Lakeland Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document (DM DPD): 

19. Policy DM1 General Requirements for All Development 

Policy DM2 Achieving Sustainable High Quality Design 

Page 23



Policy DM4 Green and Blue Infrastructure, Open Space, Trees and 
Landscaping 

Policy DM6 Flood Risk Management and Sustainable Drainage Systems 

Policy DM7 Addressing Pollution, Contamination Impact and Water Quality 

Policy DM9 Parking Provision, New and Loss of Car Parks 

Policy DM22 Hot Food Takeaways 

Policy DM23 Retail Uses Outside of Town Centres 

 
South Lakeland Core Strategy (CS): 

20. Policy CS1.1 Sustainable Development Principles 

Policy CS1.2 Development Strategy 

Policy CS3.1 Spatial Strategy for Ulverston 

Policy CS3.2 Ulverston Canal Head and Corridor 

Policy CS7.5 Town Centre and Retail Strategy 

Policy CS8.2 Protection and Enhancement of Landscape and Settlement 
Character 

Policy CS8.4 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

Policy CS8.8 Development and Flood Risk 

Policy CS8.10 Design 

Policy CS9.1 Social and Community Infrastructure 

Policy CS10.2 Transport Impact of New Development 

 
Local Plan Land Allocations: Development Plan Document (DPD): 

21. Policy LA1.1 Development Boundaries 

Policy LA1.2 Town Centre Boundaries 

 
Other Regulations 

22. The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (CHSR). 

 
Other Material Planning Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF): 

23. The relevant sections of the National Planning Policy Framework are as 
follows: 

Section 2: Achieving Sustainable Development 

Section 6: Building a Strong, Competitive Economy 

Section 7: Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres 

Section 8: Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities 

Page 24



Section 9: Promoting Sustainable Transport 

Section 12: Achieving Well Designed Places 

Section 14: Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal 
Change 

Section 15: Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

 

ASSESSMENT 

24. The key issues that apply to this application are: 

• Principle of development 

• Impact on town centre 

• Design, scale and layout 

• Impact on amenity 

• Highway safety and parking 

• Air quality 

• Noise and odour 

• Ecology and the natural environment 

• Flood risk and drainage 

• Public health 
 

25. Principle 

The proposal site is within the development boundary for Ulverston as defined 
in Policy LA1.1 of the Land Allocations DPD, and is outside the boundary of 
Ulverston Town Centre as defined in Policy LA1.2 of the Land Allocations 
DPD. The site is unallocated and the principle of built development in this 
location is acceptable. According to Annex 2:Glossary of the National Planning 
Policy Framework a restaurant or drive through restaurant is a main town 
centre use. 

Paragraph 86 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that local 
planning authorities should apply a sequential test to planning applications for 
main town centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in 
accordance with an up to date plan. Main town centre uses should be located 
in town centres, then edge of centre locations; and only if suitable sites are not 
available (or expected to become available within a reasonable period) should 
out of centre sites be considered.  

Paragraph 87 of the NPPF states that when considering edge of centre and 
out of centre proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites which 
are well connected to the town centre. Applicants and local planning 
authorities should demonstrate flexibility on issues such as format and scale, 
so that opportunities to utilise suitable town centre or edge of centre sites are 
fully explored. 

Page 25



Paragraph 89 of the NPPF states that when assessing applications for retail 
and leisure development outside of town centres, which are not in accordance 
with an up to date plan, local planning authorities should require an impact 
assessment if the development is over a proportionate, locally set floorspace 
threshold. 

Policy DM23 sets this threshold at 1000m2 for Ulverston. Any assessment 
should include: 

a) The impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 
private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the 
proposal; and 

b) The impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including 
local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail 
catchment (as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme). 

Core Strategy Policy CS7.5 classifies Ulverston as having a medium town 
centre. Development Management Policy DM23 states that proposals for town 
centre uses outside of town centres should be considered appropriately in 
instances where they may potentially result in expenditure being taken away 
from the locality. 

The floor area of the proposal is 413 square metres and the applicant accepts 
that the proposal is subject to the sequential approach for edge of centre or 
out of centre developments. The applicant states in their Supporting 
Statement that this floorspace, along with a site area of 0.3ha is the minimum 
necessary to deliver a viable drive through restaurant. Whilst the site area for 
this application is only 0.18ha the applicant states that the shared parking 
spaces in the existing Booths car park are sufficient to make up the shortfall in 
parking on the proposed site itself and this statement is considered to be 
reasonable. 

The applicant has submitted a Sequential Test and Impact Assessment in 
support of the proposal. Using the Council’s Brownfield Land Register the 
applicant has identified four alternative sites in or adjacent to the town centre. 
Three of the sites are too small to deliver a viable drive through restaurant 
whilst a fourth, at the former Hartleys Brewery site, is large enough but cannot 
provide a suitable access from the principal road network, and it is likely that 
the site would be unsuitable due to adverse impacts on neighbouring 
residential dwellings.  

Ulverston town centre is characterised by narrow streets of terraced dwellings 
with only small areas of open space. The entirety of the Ulverston Town 
Centre Boundary lies within the Ulverston Conservation Area where a building 
of the type proposed is unlikely to contribute positively to the historic character 
of the conservation area. Given the above, and the analysis of the potential 
sites on the edge of the town centre, the proposal is considered to accord with 
the sequential approach and no suitable alternative sites are available. The 
development site is considered to be well connected to the existing town 
centre by the existing highway network and is approximately a fourteen minute 
walk from the centre of town. The site is sustainably located close to other 
complimentary uses and the proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable 
in principle and in accordance with Policies DM1 and DM23 of the 

Page 26



Development Management Policies Development Plan Document, Core 
Strategy Policies CS1.1, CS3.1, and CS7.5 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Impact on Visual Amenity 

A number of objections stated that the proposed building was of an 
inappropriate design and not in keeping with its surroundings. The proposed 
drive through restaurant would be located on a retail park with a supermarket 
and other retail businesses. The existing buildings are functional in design, 
with Booths supermarket having rendered walls whilst other units adjacent to 
the application site are faced with corrugated steel cladding. The building is 
relatively low rise having a height of 5.7m at its highest point, and the 
proposed restaurant is considered to relate acceptably to its surroundings. 
The applicant has submitted a landscaping layout plan showing hard 
landscaping details which are considered to be acceptable, whilst a condition 
will be attached requiring full details of the soft landscaping to be approved in 
writing prior to commencement of the development. A condition will also be 
attached requiring full details of all external lighting to be submitted and 
approved in writing. The display of advertisement signage is controlled by the 
Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 
Regulations 2007 and approval has already been granted for the signage for 
the restaurant. Taking all the above into consideration the proposed design, 
scale and layout of the proposal is considered to be acceptable and in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policies CS1.1, CS3.1, CS8.2, and CS8.10, 
Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Impact on Residential Amenity 

The application site is located on an existing retail park with no immediate 
residential neighbours. The site is bounded on the west by Booths 
supermarket and car park, to the north by further retail units and to the east by 
a business unit. To the south of the site is an open field beyond which lies the 
canal and an hotel. The nearest residential dwellings are some distance away 
on Next Ness Lane and these dwellings would be screened from the 
development by the existing retail park. Traffic generation is not considered to 
be so severe as to affect neighbouring houses and given the size of the 
existing retail park there would be no material change in the living conditions 
of local residents. The proposal is therefore in accordance with Policies DM1 
and DM2 of the Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Impact on Highway Safety 

The site is located in the south eastern corner of the retail park and vehicular 
access is via the existing twin roundabout from the A590 and Next Ness Lane 
which serves the existing car park. A number of objections were received 
regarding highway safety, traffic congestion and inadequate parking. 
Highways England and Cumbria County Council Highways department both 
requested further information from the applicant when consulted on the 
proposal. The applicant subsequently submitted a Travel Plan, Delivery and 
Service Management Plan and an Addendum Traffic Note. The proposal is not 
considered by either of the Highways authorities to have any adverse impact 

Page 27



on the highway network and the existing car park and access are considered 
to be adequate to accommodate the development without posing a risk to 
highway safety. Concerns were expressed in some objections regarding 
vehicles queueing for the drive through facility but the restaurant is located 
well inside the retail park and queuing traffic is not considered likely to be a 
risk to highway safety. The site contains 30 standard parking spaces and 2 
disabled parking spaces, whilst the existing Booths car park contains over 230 
parking spaces therefore the parking provision is considered to be more than 
adequate. Vehicles visiting the drive through facility will be directed along the 
north of the application site to the rear of the restaurant to two ordering points 
in the south eastern corner of the site, before proceeding to payment and 
collection windows in the southern elevation of the building. There is space for 
approximately 16 queuing vehicles in the drive through lane with space for a 
further 7 queuing vehicles within the application site, giving a total space for 
23 queuing vehicles without queues extending into the Booths car park. Given 
that the entrance to Booths car park from Next Ness Lane is a further 65m 
from the entrance to the restaurant site, it is not considered likely that queuing 
traffic would impact on the local road network or the A590 trunk road. The 
proposal is therefore in accordance with Core Strategy Policies CS1.1, CS3.1, 
and CS10.2, Policies DM1 and DM2 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

Flood Risk and Drainage 

The site is in Flood Zone 2 but is a ‘less vulnerable class’ of development. No 
objection was received from the Local Lead Flood Authority and the proposal 
is acceptable in terms of flood risk and drainage subject to the submission for 
approval of a detailed surface water management scheme. 

Noise, Nuisance and Odour 

The application was accompanied by a Noise Report and odour control 
measures. The proposal is acceptable subject to compliance with the 
approved details and is not considered to result in significant noise or odour 
impacts. The Council’s Environmental Protection Officer was satisfied that the 
proposal was acceptable and subject to their recommended conditions the 
scheme would comply with Policies DM1, DM7 and DM22 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Public Health 

Section 8 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning 
authorities to enable and support healthy lifestyles including through access to 
healthier food. Development Management Policy DM22 states that proposals 
for hot food takeaways need to be carefully managed in a manner which 
respects public health interests, including having regard to the proximity to 
sensitive uses such as schools. The application site is 700m from the nearest 
primary school as the crow flies, and 750m from the nearest secondary 
school. As such the proposal is not considered to be in a particularly sensitive 
location and is in accordance with Policy DM22 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

Page 28



Impact on Environment, Climate Change and Wildlife  

In its Travel Plan received on 2nd April, the applicant described how it 
undertook a survey of 700 employees at existing similar McDonalds 
restaurants. It found that only 33% of staff travelled to work by car, with 49% 
of staff travelling by bus, bicycle or on foot. The Travel Plan would be co-
ordinated by the Assistant Restaurant Manager and would seek to encourage 
staff to use sustainable modes of transport as much as possible, including 
providing information on bus and rail routes and services and accessible cycle 
routes. The proposal includes two charging points for electric vehicles and 8 
bicycle parking spaces. The proposed restaurant includes staff changing 
areas to allow those who cycle or run to work to change before and after their 
shift. 

The applicant has also submitted a Delivery and Service Management Plan 
which states that deliveries are to be three times per week, utilising multi-
temperature vehicles to enable all of the restaurants requirements for frozen, 
chilled and ambient temperature products to be delivered in one visit, reducing 
the need for multiple trips in different types of vehicle. The statement also 
explains that the restaurants cooking oil will be recycled into bio-diesel which 
is then used as fuel by all McDonalds delivery vehicles making a carbon 
saving nationally of 8,200 tonnes per annum. Vehicles delivering products also 
collect waste cardboard, food waste, cups, oil and empty delivery crates 
reducing the amount of waste going to landfill and removing the need for 
separate vehicle trips to collect recyclable waste. 

Core Strategy Policy CS8.4 states that all development proposals should 
incorporate beneficial biodiversity and geodiversity conservation features 
whilst Development Management Policy DM4 requires that all development 
proposals should, where possible, result in environmental net gains for 
biodiversity. A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was undertaken by the 
applicant which advises that the site contains no habitats of notable ecological 
value or any likely to contain protected species such as newts, reptiles, otters, 
water voles or bats. The Appraisal recommends that following site clearance 
of existing scrub habitat and semi-mature trees the southern part of the site 
should be planted with native species rich hedgerows and standard trees 
allowed to grow within them. The proposal includes soft landscaping along the 
southern boundary, the details of which will be controlled by planning condition 
and a further condition will be attached requiring the applicant to plant native 
broadleaved trees on this part of the site. The proposal therefore provides an 
opportunity create a small area of improved wildlife habitat which it is 
considered will create a foraging and nesting habitat once mature, and which 
will benefit a wide range of birds. The appraisal recommends additional 
biodiversity enhancement measures which should be implemented by the 
applicant, specifically to donate 5 Kent bat boxes and 10 hole fronted bird 
boxes to be installed at Next Ness Nature Reserve. This will be controlled by 
planning condition. 

Taking all the above into consideration the proposal is considered to be in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS8.4, Policy DM2 and DM4 of the 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Document and Section 

Page 29



14 and 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework in terms of minimising 
its impact on wildlife habitat, the environment and climate change.  

Other Matters Raised by Representations 

Impact on tourism – the proposal is not considered to have any adverse 
impact on tourism. 

Animal rights – this is not a material planning consideration for a 
restaurant/takeaway and falls under separate legislation. 

Loss of recycling centre -  whilst not part of this application, it is understood 
that Booths intend to relocate the recycling centre to land to the west of the 
supermarket building and this would be subject to planning approval. The 
applicant has supplied a site plan showing the proposed location of the facility 
and the Council’s Street Scene team have confirmed the proposed relocation. 

Not fair trade or ethical – there is no planning requirement for restaurants or 
takeaways to subscribe to fair trade principles. 

Impact on older residents – the proposal is not considered to have any 
adverse impact on older residents. 

Antisocial behaviour and increased risk of crime – the construction of a 
restaurant/takeaway is not considered to create antisocial behaviour or an 
increased risk of crime. These would be matters for Environmental Protection, 
Cumbria Constabulary and proper management of the restaurant.  

Litter – the applicant has proposed a litter picking scheme on site and has 
undertaken to fund the installation of litter bins on Ulverston canal which will 
be secured by a Section 106 legal agreement. The proposal for a mixed use 
A3/A5 operation is not in itself considered likely to result in an increase in 
littering.  

Development not needed – the market will ultimately decide if the 
development is ‘needed’. 

A large number of objections were concerned about the applicant and not the 
proposal. The development applied for is a mixed use A3 and A5 restaurant 
and takeaway with a drive through facility which is what has been assessed. 
The identity of the applicant is not a material planning consideration. 

 

Financial benefits to Local Authorities from the development 

26. In accordance with the requirements introduced by Section 115 of the Housing 
and Planning Act 2016.  The financial benefits of the proposed development 
are estimated below. 

Source Benefit 

Community Infrastructure Levy Nil. 

Business Rates               Approximately £93000 based on the Barrow 
restaurant 

New Homes Bonus                 Nil. 

 

Page 30



27. The proposal will create 35 full time jobs and 30 part time jobs giving a FTE of 
50 jobs. 

 

CONCLUSION 

28. The proposed development is considered to accord with the principles of 
sustainable development set out in the South Lakeland Core Strategy Policies 
CS1.1, CS1.2 and CS3.1. 

29. The proposed use has satisfied the requirements of the sequential approach 
and the development is in accordance with Core Strategy Policy CS7.5 and 
Development Management Policy DM23. 

30. The development will not have any significant adverse impact on the amenity 
of local residents or the local environment and is therefore in accordance with 
Core Strategy Policy CS8.10, Development Management Policy DM1, DM2 
and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION  

That delegated authority be issued to GRANT planning permission subject to 
the satisfactory completion of a Section 106 Planning Obligation in respect of 
the funding of litter bins along the local canal and subject to the following 
conditions: 

Condition (1) The development hereby permitted shall be commenced before 
the expiration of THREE YEARS from the date hereof. 

Reason 

 

 To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Condition (2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans: 

Location Plan Dwg No 7134 AEW 8526 1001 received 15th 
February 2019 

Proposed Site Plan Dwg No 7134 AEW 8526 1004 received 15th 
February 2019 

Proposed Floor Plan and Roof Plan Dwg No 7134 AEW 8526 
1006 received 15th February 2019 

Proposed Elevations Dwg No 7134 AEW 8526 1005 received 
15th February 2019 

Reason  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
 

Condition (3) Before development above damp proof course commences on 
site, arrangements shall be made with the Local Planning 

Page 31



Authority for the inspection of all external facing and roofing 
materials to be used in the development hereby permitted. The 
samples shall then be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and the development constructed in accordance with 
the approved details. 

Reason  To ensure the use of appropriate materials and to ensure the 
development is of a high quality design in accordance with Policy 
CS8.10 of the South Lakeland Core Strategy and Policy DM1 of 
the Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document. 
 

Condition (4) Foul and surface drainage shall be drained on separate systems. 

Reason  To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding 
and pollution and to accord with Policy CS8.8 of the South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and Policy DM6 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

Condition (5) Full details of the surface water drainage system (incorporating 
SUDs features as far as practicable) and a maintenance 
schedule shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval prior to development being commenced. Any approved 
works shall be implemented prior to the development being 
completed and shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with 
the schedule. The drainage scheme submitted for approval shall 
be in accordance with the principles set out in the Flood Risk 
Assessment dated February 2019 proposing surface water 
discharging to the adjacent ditch drains surrounding the site. 

Reason  To secure proper drainage and to manage the risk of flooding 
and pollution and to accord with Policy CS8.8 of the South 
Lakeland Core Strategy and Policy DM6 of the Development 
Management Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

Condition (6) No development shall take place until a Construction Method 
Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The statement shall provide for: 

i. The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

ii. Loading and unloading of plant and materials; 

iii.  Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the  
 development; 

iv.  Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during   
 construction; 

v. No burning of waste to take place; 

vi. Measures to avoid excess dirt on adjacent roads; 

vii. Measures to control noise and vibration from plant, 
equipment and procedures – this to include any rock 

Page 32



pecking and excavations. 

The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered 
to throughout the construction period. 

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of adjacent residential properties and 
to accord with Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 127 (f) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Condition (7) Construction works, including site preparation, earthworks, start-
up of machinery, deliveries and unloading of equipment and 
materials shall not take place outside the hours of 08.00 – 18.00 
Mondays to Fridays and 09.00 – 13.00 on Saturdays and at no 
time on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays. 

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of adjacent residential properties and 
to accord with Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 127 (f) and 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Condition (8) During the construction phase of the development the developer 
shall fully comply with the conclusions and recommendations 
detailed in the Phase One and Phase Two Assessments by Pam 
Brown Associates dated May 2018. Before the building is first 
brought into use, a validation report and statement from a 
competent person, detailing the contamination assessment, 
including any found during development, any remediation 
undertaken, and also reference the Phase One and Phase Two 
Assessment, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason  To ensure that risks from land contamination are minimised, in 
accordance with Policy DM7 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 170 (e) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Condition (9) Prior to the building being first brought into use a validation 
report confirming that the odour/ventilation extraction system 
(including the effectiveness of the filtration/treatment process) is 
as indicated in the Odour Control Report and fully compliant with 
recent guidance for commercial kitchens, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 127(f) and 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Condition (10) Prior to the building being first brought into use a validation 
report confirming the conclusions set out in the Noise Impact 

Page 33



Assessment dated February 2019 by Loven Acoustics, shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 127(f) and 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Condition (11) Refuse and recycling shall be stored and managed in 
accordance with the Waste Management and Recycling 
Statement received by the Local Planning Authority on 15th 
February 2019 and thereafter maintained. 

Reason  To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with Policy DM1 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and paragraph 127(f) and 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Condition (12) No works or development shall take place until a full specification 
of all proposed tree and shrub planting has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
specification shall include the quantity, size, species, and 
positions or density of all trees to be planted. All trees shall be 
planted in accordance with the agreed specification and times 
and in accordance with British Standards BS4043 – 
Transplanting Root-Balled Trees and BS4428 -  Code of Practice 
for General Landscape Operations. 

Reason  These details are required to be approved before the 
commencement of development to safeguard and enhance the 
character of the area and secure high quality landscaping in 
accordance with Policy DM4 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

Condition (13) No development shall take place until full details of both hard and 
soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall 
include:- 

i. Proposed finished levels or contours; 

ii. Means of enclosure; 

iii. Car parking layouts; 

iv. Other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; 

v. Hard surfacing materials; 

vi. Minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play 
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting 
etc.); 

vii. Communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, 

Page 34



inspection covers, support and; 

viii.  Retained landscape features such as trees together with 
details of how they will be protected during construction. 

Soft landscape works shall include planting plans, written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations 
associated with plant and grass establishment), schedules of 
plans, noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities and an implementation programme. 

The agreed scheme shall be carried our as approved to the 
agreed timetable. Any trees/shrubs which are removed, die, 
become severely damaged or diseased within five years of their 
planting shall be replaced in the next planting season with 
trees/shrubs of similar size and species to those originally 
required to be planted unless the Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation. 

Reason  These details are required to be approved before the 
commencement of development to safeguard and enhance the 
character of the area and secure high quality landscaping in 
accordance with Policies DM1, DM2 and DM4 of the 
Development Management Policies Development Plan 
Document. 
 

Condition (14) No development shall begin unless and until a scheme for the 
provision of external lighting has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall include full details of the location, design, illuminance 
levels, light spillage and hours of use of all external lighting within 
the site. The approved lighting scheme shall be implanted in full 
prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved. 

Reason  These details are required to be approved before the 
commencement of development to safeguard and enhance the 
character of the area and to minimise light pollution in 
accordance with Policy DM2 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document. 
 

Condition (15) Prior to the building being first brought into use, the developer 
shall make provision for five bat boxes and ten hole fronted bird 
boxes to be installed in the Next Ness Nature Reserve.  

Reason  In the interests of enhancing the biodiversity and geodiversity of 
the district and to accord with South Lakeland Core Strategy 
Policy CS8.4, Policy DM4 of the Development Management 
Policies Development Plan Document and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

   

 

Page 35



P & P 
Statement 

 In the exercise of its judgement in determining the appropriate 
balance of considerations, the Local Planning Authority has 
acted positively and proactively in determining this application 
proposal, taking into account all material considerations. Material 
considerations include planning policies and any representations 
that may have been received preceding the determination to 
grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  The Local Planning Authority is 
satisfied that its processes and practices are compatible with the 
Human Rights Act and the decisions of the European Court of 
Human Rights. 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



South Lakeland District Council 

Planning Committee 

27th June 2019 

Report on Monthly Enforcement Activity 

 

Portfolio:   Councillor Jonathan Brook – Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Simon Rowley - Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Report Author: Mark Balderson – Planning Enforcement Officer 

Wards:  All Wards 

Forward Plan: NA 

 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 To inform Members about planning enforcement activity between 1st March and 30th 
April 2019.  This report aims to provide a brief and informative insight into current 
enforcement cases, action taken, on-going investigations and cases closed.    

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Members note the contents of Appendix 1 and endorse the 
delegated actions of officers in closing cases as set out in Appendix 2. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 Enforcement Activity: March/April 2019 

Cases on hand at 1st March 2019 

New cases  

Total cases closed 

Cases on hand at 30th April 2019 

232 

39 

55 

216 

 

3.2 Enforcement cases for which Committee consideration is sought: 

 None. 

3.3 An update on enforcement cases involving enforcement action: 

3.3.1 An update on those cases involving formal enforcement action is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

3.4  Summary of enforcement cases which have been investigated and 
closed under delegated powers: 

3.4.1 Officers consider it important that Members are aware of the enforcement 
cases that have been investigated and note / endorse that these cases have 

Page 37

Item No.7



been closed and no further action taken.  These cases are set out in 
Appendix 2. 

 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 Not Applicable 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 Not Applicable 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 This report links to the aim of “Enhancing the environment in which we live, and 
supports the national performance indicators”.  The National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) paragraph 58 states “planning enforcement is important as a 
means of maintaining public confidence in the planning system”. 

6.2 Having an effective, robust planning enforcement regime involving people will help 
make South Lakeland the best place to live, work and visit.  Dealing with 
unauthorised development in an efficient, firm and fair manner, fosters strong links 
with the community, increased public confidence in the Council and value for money. 

 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 Cost implications only arise if the matter ultimately requires court or direct action in 
default. 

Human Resources 

7.2 The recommendations in this report do not have any staffing implications. 

Legal 

7.3 See Report. With regards to those individual cases in which legal action is 
considered, legal advice is sought to ensure that any action taken is lawful, justifiable 
and proportionate. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 This report does not have any registered significant environmental, social, economic 
Environmental effects. 

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: Not 
Applicable 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: Not applicable 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
Statement of Community Involvement takes account of the equalities issues in 
seeking to define South Lakeland’s community and interests relevant to the Local 
Development Framework which will influence the determination of individual planning 
applications. Equality issues are also considered for each individual case as and 
when action is necessary. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: NA 

Page 38



Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

The failure of a statutory 
requirement to investigate 
breaches of planning law with an 
effective investigative 
compliance and enforcement 
system. 

Ombudsman 
maladministration 
investigation.  Result in 
inappropriate forms of 
development, which would 
have an adverse impact 
on the character, and 
appearance of the 
District’s historic towns 
and rural landscape. 

To maintain sufficient 
resources in planning 
enforcement and prioritise 
and co-ordinate the 
investigation of breaches 
of planning control. 

Contact Officers 

Mark Balderson, Planning Enforcement Officer Tel: 01539 793353   
email: development.management@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

(delete if no appendices attached) 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 A report on enforcement cases where authorisation to take 
enforcement action has been sought. 

2 A report to provide a summary of the cases which have been resolved 
under delegated authority in this Committee month.   

Background Documents Available 

 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Various planning files Planning Department website: 
http://applications.southlakeland.gov.uk/planningapplic
ations/welcome.asp 

Details identifying the reporting 
body is confidential. 

See report in appendix for details and reference 
numbers. 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services 28/05/2019 

DC Team Leader 28/05/2019 

Section 151 Officer N/A 

Monitoring Officer N/A 

SMT N/A 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director N/A 

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Page 39

mailto:development.management@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://applications.southlakeland.gov.uk/planningapplications/welcome.asp
http://applications.southlakeland.gov.uk/planningapplications/welcome.asp


Circulated to Date sent 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder N/A 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee 06/06/2019 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

 

Page 40



APPENDIX 1 

The purpose of this appendix is to provide a brief summary of the on-going action of cases with Committee authorisation and delegated 
authority.  

REF No. PARISH SITE ADDRESS BREACH / CONTRAVENTION PROGRESS / NEXT STEP 

15130 GRANGE over 
SANDS 

Monton, 10 Cart 
Lane. 

Alterations to roof of dwelling-
house. 

Appeal outcome, the appeal has 
been dismissed and the notice 
varied. Officer site visit confirms 
that the notice has been 
complied with and the roof box 
dormer removed. 

16138 KIRKBY LONSDALE Land adjacent the 
A65 

Operational development, 
alteration to access and laying of 
Hard-core. 

Recent site visit confirms the 
required works have 
commenced, officers monitoring 
progress. 

16157 ULVERSTON 11/11a Market Street Removal and insertion of windows. Site visit confirms the notice has 
not been complied with in full. 
Enforcement officer to seek 
advice from Council solicitor. 

15196 EGTON WITH 
NEWLANDS 

Alpine Rd, junction 
with A590, Newlands. 

Material change of use of land and 
operational development. 

Site visit 21/01/2019 confirms 
the notice has not been 
complied with. Met the occupant 
of the site who confirms the 
owner has passed away. 
Enforcement officer compiling 
file to commence legal action in 
the magistrates court. 

  

 

P
age 41



 

 

APPENDIX 2 

A report to provide a summary of the cases which have been resolved under delegated authority. 

Closed Cases Between 01/03/2019 & 30/04/2019                                    55 

Ref No Parish Site Address Allegation of Breach Reason for Closure 

15004 MILNTHORPE Canton Chef, 9 Main Street, 
Milnthorpe, LA7 7PN 

External ventilation flue and 
change to shop front. 

Breach remedied. 

15224 URSWICK Wellwood, Bardsea, Ulverston, LA12 
9RD 

Siting of a static caravan for 
residential purpose. Siting of a site 
cabin 

Not Expedient. 

16108 KENDAL 75 Sparrowmire Lane, Kendal, LA9 
5PU 

Untidy site/material change of use. Breach remedied. 

16138 KIRKBY 
LONSDALE 

Land Adjacent To A65, Opposite 
Kendal Road, Kirkby Lonsdale, 
Kirkby Lonsdale 

Operational development - 
creation of access gateway and 
road. 

Complied with notice. 

16182 PENNINGTON Land To The West Of Rowe Head 
Garage, Pennington, Ulverston, 
La12 0rr 

Excavation works Breach remedied. 

16256 BURTON IN 
KENDAL 

Storth Ltd, Butlands, Moss Lane, 
Burton In Kendal 

Breach of erection of 
building/spray booth 

Breach Remedied. 

16258 KENDAL Footpath From 'suspension Bridge' 
To Mintsfeet Road North, Kendal 

Untidy Land/path/cycle way No Breach. 

17123 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Railings Adjacent To Main Street, 
Grange Over Sands 

Banners on railings Breach remedied. 

P
age 42



17124 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Railings Adjacent To Main Street, 
Grange Over Sands 

Banners on railings Breach Remedied 

17126 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Grange Parish Hall, Kents Bank 
Road, Grange Over Sands, LA11 
7EY 

Erection of advertisment banner Breach remedied. 

17127 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Roundabout, Main Street, Grange 
Over Sands 

Erection of A Boards Breach remedied. 

17136 BEETHAM Land Adjacent To Holly Cottage, 
Storth Road, Storth, LA7 7JA 

Breach of condition 3 (material 
storage) and not built in 
accordance with drawing 9978/1 
Rev E (Fencing) 

Breach remedied. 

17144 KENDAL 18 Gillinggate Road, Kendal, LA9 
4JE 

Breach of planning refusal (land 
not to be used for parking) 

Not expedient. 

17145 LOWER HOLKER Land At 2 Willow Lane, Flookburgh, 
LA11 7LU 

Breach of planning condition 2 
attached to 5/94/2845 (occupation 
clause) 

No Breach. 

17168 KENDAL 1 Parr Street, Kendal, LA9 7DH Replacement of windows with 
UPVC inside Conservation Area 

Breach remedied. 

17170 ARNSIDE Coast Guard Garage, Redhills Road, 
Arnside, LA5 0AT 

Domestic garage being used as 
hairdressers and retail shop for 
paintings 

Breach remedied. 

17174 KENDAL Oakmere Development, Strawberry 
Fields, Kendal, LA9 7HQ 

Breach of condition in respect of 
the construction management 
strategy - SL/2016/0398 

No Breach. 

17184 KENDAL 10 Spring Gardens, Kendal, LA9 
4PA 

Replacement door and ground 
floor window within the Kendal 
Conservation Area 

Not Expedient. 

P
age 43



17196 ARNSIDE 14a Plantation Avenue, Arnside, LA5 
0HT 

Unauthorised decking structure not 
removed from property 

Breach remedied. 

18015 BURTON IN 
KENDAL 

Annexe, The Tannery, Tanpits Lane, 
Burton-In-Kendal, Carnforth, LA6 
1HZ 

Material change of use of Annex to 
running of commercial business 
and construction of external walls 
along roadside 

No Breach. 

18020 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Old Coachhouse, Fernleigh Road, 
Grange-Over-Sands, LA11 7HT 

Roof height greater than 
permission granted SL/2016/0678 

No breach. 

18033 KENDAL Drill House, Queen Katherine Street, 
Kendal 

Large sign fitted to exterior wall No Breach. 

18046 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

The Studio, Grange Promenade, 
Grange Over Sands 

Site cleared without tree protection 
in breach of Cond 4 - 
SL/2017/1039 

Breach remedied. 

18057 KENDAL Land To The Rear Of 95 Highgate, 
Kendal, LA9 4EN 

Resurfacing work to rear car park 
without planning permission 

No Breach. 

18061 OSMOTHERLEY Meadowsweet Barn, Osmotherly, 
Ulverston, LA12 7PR 

Breach of condition 4 (Use & 
Occupancy) in relation to planning 
SL/2009/0454 

Breach remedied. 

18070 ULVERSTON Accumulator Tower, On The Former 
Bardsea Branch Line, Ulverston 

Change of use of field and tower 
(listed building) to the rearing of 
pigs 

No breach. 

18089 MILNTHORPE 3 Firs Flats, Milnthorpe, LA7 7QQ Placement of 2 sheds Not expedient 

18090 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Cellar Under 3 Flats At Oaklands, 
Grange Over Sands, LA11 7HP 

Cellar window removed and 
boarded up in preparation to install 
steps and a door 

No breach. 

18096 UNDERBARROW 
AND 

Bradley Field Farm, Brigsteer Road, 
Kendal 

Vehicle storage, renting of 
agricultural buildings for 

Area within LDNPA. 

P
age 44



BRADLEYFIELD Commercial use, letting of stables 
for livery and storage. 

18101 NATLAND Entrance To Beeches Estate, 
Natland Road, Kendal 

Stone wall not constructed to 
entrance and as shown on 
Boundary Treatment Plan 
SL/2013/0830. 

Not expedient. 

18104 KIRKBY 
IRELETH 

La'al Barn, West View, Sandside, 
LA17 7TA 

Breach of condition 3 (Opening 
hours) SL/2017/0407, parking 
restricting access to private 
driveways. 

No breach. 

18116 LOWER HOLKER 27 Allithwaite Road, Flookburgh, 
LA11 7JR 

Property not completed 
SL/2015/1099. 

Not expedient. 

18129 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Tesco Express, Kents Bank Road, 
Grange Over Sands 

Plant room generating noise louder 
than permitted. 

Breach remedied. 

18134 PENNINGTON 12 Kingsley Ave, Swarthmoor, 
Ulverston, La12 0jd 

Erection of Wendy House. Breach remedied. 

18140 MILNTHORPE 31a Beetham Road, Milnthorpe, LA7 
7QN 

Construction in breach of approved 
plans. 

No Breach. 

18143 KENDAL 26 Longlands View, Kendal, LA9 
6HJ 

Raised platform & fish pond. Breach remedied. 

18165 PRESTON 
RICHARD 

1 Deer Park Barn, Crooklands, LA7 
7NP 

Fitting of UPVC windows Permission Granted. 

18174 KENDAL 4 Thorny Hills, Kendal, LA9 7AL Untidy site to front of property No Breach. 

18176 KENDAL Sainsbury’s Supermarket, Shap 
Road, Kendal 

Erection of totem sign Breach remedied. 

18197 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

Railway Station, Emma's Café, The 
Keg & Kitchen, Grange Over Sands 

Display of banners Breach remedied. 

P
age 45



18211 BEETHAM Green Head Farm, Storth Road, 
Storth, Beetham, LA7 7HF 

Breach of conditions attached to 
SL/2016/0901 

Breach remedied. 

18218 KENDAL 18 Undercliff Road, Kendal, LA9 
4PG 

UPVC windows installed in 
conservation area 

Breach remedied 

18226 ULVERSTON Log Home Village, Newland, 
Ulverston, LA12 7QQ 

Breach of condition - holiday lodge 
being used as sole and main 
residence 

No breach. 

19003 PENNINGTON Land Adjacent To Vale View, 
Pennington, Ulverston, La12 0rr 

Breach of condition 2 (plans 
relating to drainage) attached to 
SL/2015/0648 

No breach. 

19012 KENDAL 1-7 Kent Street, Kendal, LA9 4AT Breach of condition 2 attached to 
SL/2015/0098 

No breach. 

19019 LEVENS 2 Meadow Wood, Levens, LA8 8EY Installation of flue for wood burning 
stove 

No breach. 

19021 GRANGE OVER 
SANDS 

1a Priory Lane (rear Of 49 Priory 
Lane), Grange Over Sands, LA11 
7BL 

Dwelling not built into accordance 
with plans approved under 
SL/2014/0379 and felling of trees 
(cond 3) 

Breach remedied. 

19022 HOLME 2 Turners Farm Cottages, North 
Road, Holme, Cumbria, LA6 1QG 

Erection of wooden structure No Breach 

19024 BURTON IN 
KENDAL 

Burtlands House, Burton In Kendal, 
LA6 1HR 

Opening a caravan site. No Breach. 

19030 ULVERSTON 7 Market Street, Ulverston, LA12 
7AY 

Premises operating as bar/live 
music without planning permission. 

No Breach. 

19031  49 Windermere Road, Kendal, LA9 
4QJ 

Replacement windows installed 
without planning permission 
(Conservation Area) 

No breach. 

P
age 46



19040 KENDAL Unit 20 & 21 Trading Estate, Beezon 
Road, Kendal, LA9 6BW 

Use of entire unit as showroom No Breach - Permission 
Granted under 
SL/2017/0895 

19046 BURTON IN 
KENDAL 

Royal Hotel, Main Street, Burton In 
Kendal, LA6 1LY 

Breach of condition 3 & 4 
(archaeological evaluation & 
construction method statement) 
attached to SL/2017/0992 

No Breach. 

19052 ULVERSTON Hamilton House, Church Walk, 
Ulverston, La12 0bj 

Removal of stone wall and iron 
railings to front of property 

Duplicated case. 

19056 KENDAL Former Magistrates Court, 
Burneside Road, Kendal, LA9 4NF 

Unauthorised start of works 
(interior works and generator 
running) 

No Breach. 

 P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 48



South Lakeland District Council 

Planning Committee 

27th June 2019 

PLANNING PERFORMANCE AND APPEALS UPDATE 

 

Portfolio:  Councillor Jonathon Brook - Portfolio Holder Housing, People 
and Innovation 

Report from: Simon Rowley - Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Report Author: Mark Lynch - Development Control Team Leader 

Wards:  All not wholly within a National Park 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

1.0 Purpose of the Report 

1.1 The report updates Members on the performance of the planning service over 
the year to December 2018 in respect of key performance indicators relating 
to planning applications and appeals. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Members note the report and the contents of 
appendices 1 and 2. 

3.0 Background  

3.1 Local Planning Authorities are provided with statutory time limits to determine 
planning applications within a set period of time. These time limits, although 
not binding, are a way to evaluate a local planning authority’s performance 
and can lead to a Council losing its power to determine planning applications 
within its jurisdiction if too many applications are determined outside these 
statutory time limits. The time limits are known as determination periods and 
are set at 13 weeks for Major Planning applications (16 weeks where subject 
to Environmental impact Assessment) and 8 weeks for other planning 
applications. 

3.2 Major applications (13 and 16 week threshold) include the following: 

 Residential Development of more than 10 dwellings; and  

 Creation of more than 1000m² of non-residential floor space. 

3.3 The current national target for determining applications for major development 
is 60%. 

3.4 Minor applications (8 week threshold) include: 

 Residential Development of less than 10 dwellings; 

 Creation of less than 1000m² of non-residential floor space. 

3.5 The national target for determining applications for minor development is 

70%. 

Page 49

Item No.8



3.6 Other applications (8 week threshold) include: 

 Listed Building Consent; 

 Householder applications; 

 Prior Notifications; and 

 Advertisement Consent. 

3.7 The national target for determining applications for ‘other’ development is also 
70%. 

3.8 Applications for non-material minor amendments and to discharge planning 
conditions, agricultural notifications and certificates of lawful development do 
not count towards performance figures. 

3.9 At the Planning Committee meeting of 28 June 2018, Members requested that 
details of the Council’s performance relating to major applications and 
appeals be reported in full with updates provided at successive Planning 
Committee meetings.  This report states the outcome of appeal decisions 
received since the last report and includes planning performance data.   

3.10 The Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, followed by the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016, provided the Secretary of State with the power to 
‘designate’ local planning authorities if their performance in handling major 
planning applications was below an acceptable standard. These measure 
both speed and quality of decisions.  

3.11 Speed of decisions relates to the number of planning applications determined 
within statutory time scales outlined above, allowing for any agreed time 
extensions with applicants to prolong that time period. Quality of decisions 
measures the percentage of planning decisions that are subsequently 
overturned on appeal and these include all decisions taken by the authority, 
both by members and by officers under delegated powers. The assessment 
period extends across a two year period. 

3.12 The criteria for designation have been increased year-on-year. Currently, local 
planning authorities could be designated as under-performing and placed 
under ‘special measures’ by the Secretary of State if any of the following 
occur: 

 Speed of major development decisions – 60% within 13 weeks or an 
agreed Extension of Time – for the period January 2017 to December 
2018 

 Speed of minor development decisions – 70% within 8 weeks or an 
agreed Extension of Time – for the period January 2017 to December 
2018 

 Quality of major development decisions – Loss of more than 10% of 
appeals – for the period January 2017 – December 2018 

 Quality of non- major development decisions – Loss of more than 10% 
of appeals –for the period January 2017 – December 2018. 

Page 50



Figures are submitted quarterly to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government. Appendix 1 to this report sets out the running performance 
for both speed and quality of decision-making by the Council. 

3.13 We continue to measure appeal decisions against an overall target of 10% 
allowed appeals. The performance of the Local Planning Authority is 
measured across both delegated and member-made decisions. Since the last 
Committee meeting there have been no further appeal decisions to report.  
Appeal progress is set out in appendix 2 to this report. 

3.14 For the quality of decisions, the statistics show the overall figure for planning 
applications determined in the assessment period of 24 months from 1 April 
2017 to 30 June 2019 with subsequent appeal decisions to May 2019.   

3.15 The measure used for assessing the quality of decisions is the percentage of 
planning applications refused, including those arising from a 'deemed refusal' 
where an application has not been determined, and the appeal was received 
by the Planning Inspectorate within the statutory period. The Government will 
use an average figure based on the authority’s performance across the two 
year assessment period. 

3.16 In respect of the quality of decision-making, the threshold for designation on 
applications for both major and non-major development, above which a local 
planning authority is eligible for designation, is 10 per cent of an authority’s 
total number of decisions on applications made during the assessment period 
being overturned at appeal.  

3.17 Appendix 1 shows that to date the Council’s performance for speed of 
decision-making is in excess of Government targets, as is the quality of 
determining non-major applications. The quality of decisions relating to major 
applications is significantly lower than it should be (as assessed through the 
appeal process) and this should be carefully monitored and reported upon 
over the coming months. Of the 6 major category appeals contested since 
early 2017, most arose from committee overturns of officer recommendations 
and all but one was lost, and one was withdrawn. The consequences of this 
trend, should it continue, could be very serious in terms of the local planning 
authority retaining its powers to determine future major development 
proposals. These powers could be removed from the Council and be placed 
under the control of the Planning Inspectorate. Steps to address this 
performance dip may need to be considered in the event that performance 
does not improve in the short term. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 Not applicable. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 Not applicable. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 This report links to the aim of “Enhance and protect the district’s high quality 
environment.” 

6.2 Locally we have set a target of a maximum number of appeals allowed as 
33%. All enforcement appeals are discounted from the indicator because it 

Page 51



measures the efficiency of planning policy.  The current overall performance, 
calculated from those decisions received since 1 April 2018, is 67% success 
in defending appeals against refusal (that is 33% allowed and this is the 
maximum local target); therefore, planning policy is not considered to be 
inefficient. However, this is now out of step with the nationally set target of no 
more than 10% of appeals being allowed over a two year period and should 
no longer be relied upon as a measurement of performance. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 The recommendations in this report do not have any cost implications. 

Human Resources 

7.2 The recommendations in this report do not have any staffing implications. 

Legal 

7.3 Not applicable. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your 
reasons: this report does not have any registered significant environmental 
effects. 

7.6 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: this report 
does not have any registered significant environmental effects. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your 
reasons: the Statement of Community Involvement takes account of the 
equalities issues in seeking to define South Lakeland’s community and 
interests relevant to the Local Development Framework which will influence 
the determination of individual planning applications. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts:  

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Failure to achieve the 
National Performance 
target of less than 
10% of major 
application appeals 
being allowed over a 2 
year period.  There is 
a similar target of 10% 
for a quality 
performance indicator 

Ultimately the failure to 
achieve Government 
targets in relation to 
major appeals could 
result in the Council 
being ‘designated’ and 
put into Special 
Measures and the 
powers to determine 
major applications 

Target of maximum number of 
appeals “allowed” set nationally 
at no more than 10%. Monitoring 
of all appeal decisions is 
undertaken to ensure that the 
Council’s decisions are being 
defended thoroughly and that 
appropriate and defendable 
decisions are being made by 
Committee and under delegated 

Page 52



Risk Consequence Controls required 

in relation to all minor 
and other planning 
application appeals. 

being lost to central 
Government / Planning 
Inspectorate. 

powers. The lack of any 
monitoring could lead to more 
decisions going contrary to the 
Council decisions, resulting in 
poorer quality development and 
also costs being awarded 
against the Council.  

Ensure that sufficient resources 
maintained in planning so that 
major applications in particular 
are dealt with within targets or 
agreed extensions of time; thus 
avoiding non-determination 
appeals.  Ensure that 
applications are determined in 
accordance with policy and that 
there is a presumption in favour 
of sustainable development. 

 

Contact officer 

Mark Lynch, Development Control Team Leader – Tel: 01539 793542. 
Email: mark.lynch@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix No. Name of appendix 

1 

 

A table showing a running performance for both speed and 
quality of decision-making by the Council. 

2 A table showing appeal decisions received from the Planning 
Inspectorate since the previous month’s update, and all appeals 
that are still awaiting a decision. 

 

Background documents available 

Name of background 
document 

Where it is available 

Various planning files Planning Department / website: 

 
 

 

Page 53

mailto:mark.lynch@southlakeland.gov.uk
http://applications.southlakeland.gov.uk/planningapplications/welcome.asp


Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent 

Legal Services  

Section 151 Officer N/A 

Monitoring Officer N/A 

SMT N/A 

Circulated to Date sent 

Assistant Director Ian Hassall –  

Human Resources Manager N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder Cllr Brooks –  

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

Page 54



APPENDIX 1 – PERFORMANCE 

 National
Target 

 

Q1 

Jan – 
March 
2018 

Q2 

April – 
June 2018 

 

Q3 

July – Sept 
2018 

 

Q4 

Oct - Dec 
2018 

 

Q1 

Jan-
March 
2019 

Cumulative over 2018 and 
2019 

(Quality of decisions only) 

         

Major development 
decisions 
 

+ 60 % 83.33 % 

 

100 % 100% 40% 100% 84.67% 

Minor development 
decisions 
 

+ 70 % 80.90 % 

 

53 % 88.5 % 76.85% 84.75% 76.80% 

Quality of major 
development decisions 

(i.e. Decisions 
overturned at Appeal) 

- 10 %     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20%  

(i.e. - 80% against target) 

6 decisions:  

1 Dismissed 

4 Allowed 

1 Withdrawn 
(4 by Committee and 2 
under delegated powers) 
 

Quality of non-major 
development decisions 
 
(i.e. Decisions 
overturned at Appeal) 

- 10 %     

 

 

 

 

 

 

90%  

17 decisions:  

2 Allowed (-10%) 

P
age 55



APPENDIX   2 
 

Site 

 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning 
Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

KIRKBY IRELETH 

Kirkby Moor Wind 
Farm 
Kirkby Moor and 
Lowick High Common 
Grizebeck 

Variation of condition No. 6 attached 
to planning permission 5/90/2312 
(erection of 15 wind turbines and 
construction of access ways) to vary 
the temporary time condition to 
allow retention of turbines until 31 
March 2027, followed by one year to 
carry out decommissioning works 
 

Refused 20/12/17 

(Committee) 

 

APP/M0933/W/18/3204360 

26/6/18  (INQUIRY) 

SL/2017/0687 

Awaited 

HEVERSHAM 

Ghyll Cottage 
Leasgill 

Single dwelling and formation of 
vehicular access 

Refused 8/8/18 

 

APP/M0933/W/18/3212416 

9/11/18     

SL/2018/0281 
 

Awaited 

NATLAND 

New House 

Erection of end terrace dwelling and 
detached workshop 

Refused 4/12/18 

 

APP/M0933/W/18/3218720 

9/1/19     

SL/2018/0569 
 

DISMISSED 

22 May  

 

 

 

P
age 56



Site 

 

Description SLDC Decision  Planning Inspectorate Ref 
and start date  

South Lakeland Planning 
Ref 
 

Planning 
Inspectorate 
Decision 

KENDAL 

Land adjacent to the 
north side of Natland 
Mill Beck Lane 
 

Erection of 26 dwellings including 
vehicular and pedestrian access 
(resubmission of SL/2016/1090) 

Refused 12/3/19 

 

APP/M0933/W/19/3226074 

12/4/19    (Inquiry 23rd July) 

SL/2018/1032 
 

Awaited 

GRANGE over SANDS 

Spring Bank Farm 
Spring Bank Road 

Recladding external walls of existing 
agricultural barn and installation of 
new doors 

Refused 28/3/19 

 

APP/M0933/W/19/3225734 

26/4/19     

PN/2019/0008 
 

Awaited 

 

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 58


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Planning Application SL/2019/0146 - Land at Booths, Oubas Hill, Ulverston
	7 A Report on Monthly Enforcement Activity
	8 Planning Performance and Appeals Update

